IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE NO. 02-466

JUDGE JOHN RENKE, III

Case No. SC03-1846

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

SCOTT K. TOZIAN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 253510 GWENDOLYN H. HINKLE, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 83062 SMITH, TOZIAN & HINKLE, P.A. 109 North Brush Street, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33602 813-273-0063 Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Judge Renke's Present Fitness to Serve as a Judge

The Hearing Panel (the "Panel") "unanimously rejected removal from office" and "strongly" held that Judge Renke "is not presently unfit to serve as a judge." (Findings at 31-32). To the contrary, the Panel determined that "Judge Renke has shown himself to be a very good circuit judge." (Findings at 32). In addition to submitting character affidavits from twenty attorneys, the Judge elicited testimony from three character witnesses. (J. Exh. 36). None of the character witnesses knew the Judge before he was elected and each testified that the Judge had done an excellent job despite being assigned to a family law docket that had responsibility for two divisions resulting in a higher than normal caseload. (Findings at 31-32). These witnesses, including an attorney who had served as his opponent's campaign treasurer, explained that Judge Renke was extraordinarily patient with the litigants, prepared, knowledgeable and extremely diligent and conscientious. (T. 661-76, 840-48, 769-78).

B. Judge Renke's employment at the Renke Law Firm

Prior to being elected as a circuit judge in 2002, the Judge worked as an attorney for his father's law firm. The Judge began working for his father in 1995, immediately after he graduated from law school. The law offices of John Renke was predominantly a family business. The Judge's mother, Margaret Renke,

worked for her husband at the firm since 1981 as a secretary and bookkeeper. (T. 594, 598). In addition, the Judge's wife, Michelle Renke, worked with the Judge for a few years, providing secretarial support. (T. 575). The only non-family members in the firm were Thomas Gurran, Esquire, who worked part-time due to health problems, and Ms. Helen Sandor, an elderly lady in her eighties who helped with clerical duties. (T. 463, 595, 607-08).

The Judge used his 2002 compensation from the law firm to fund his judicial campaign. The Panel considered the Judge's entitlement to his 2002 compensation and found that Judge Renke had a "valid and reasonable expectation of receiving the funds," but he was paid prematurely. (Findings at 32). Judge Renke performed substantial work for his father's law firm and was the only lawyer at the firm who consistently worked at least eight hours a day. (T. 607). While John Renke, II, insisted on reviewing and signing the work product leaving the firm, Mr. Renke was in the office infrequently and commonly worked as little as six to twelve hours a week. (T. 608). Often, the Judge's mother would take the work product home for her husband to review. Id. Mr. Gurran averaged approximately six hours a day. (T. 606). As such, Judge Renke was responsible for managing the majority of the firm's case load.

In addition to the firm's personal injury and property cases, Judge Renke devoted his time to a group of complex deed restriction cases which ultimately

involved the Renke firm's representation of over two-hundred (200) plaintiffs. (T. 109). The Panel refers to these cases as the "Driftwood litigation." Judge Renke assisted in drafting discovery requests and pleadings in this case. (T. 108). Moreover, Judge Renke spearheaded the financial document discovery which consisted of inspecting the association's financial documents with members of the community. (T. 108). Judge Renke was also responsible for client communication. (T. 109-110, J. Exh. 25.) Three lawyers from three separate firms represented the defense and the defense acknowledged the complexity and difficulty of the case. (T. 124-125, JQC Exh. 111, p. 31).

Despite Judge Renke's efforts, the Judge was paid minimally. The Panel found the "evidence overwhelmingly indicated that [Judge Renke] was underpaid throughout his years at the firm and his family functioned very close to the financial line." (Findings at 12). Prior to passing the Bar, Judge Renke was paid nine dollars an hour, which was raised to eleven dollars an hour after he was admitted. (T. 572). Judge Renke and his wife Michelle worked hard to live within their means, including owning only one family car and living with the Judge's

_

This litigation pertained to the appropriation and spending of home owners association dues in a seniors only residential community in Pasco County, which also permitted a smaller section for non-age restrictive family housing. The family housing residents challenged the association's use of their dues on amenities that were restricted to seniors only. The resulting litigation, including a records inspection case, spawned into claims involving the viability of covenants and requests for injunctive relief. (T. 104-109).

parents until they could finance a \$57,000 home that they located in foreclosure proceedings. (T. 588, 803).

Judge Renke accepted the position at the firm out of a sense of responsibility and a desire to be close to his parents. The Judge and his wife had made an independent life in Tallahassee while the Judge attended law school but decided to move to New Port Richey and work for the Judge's father after his dad indicated that his health was poor. (T. 571). The Judge and his father entered into an incentive-based compensation agreement that included an hourly wage plus twenty percent of significant cases. (T. 100-01, 152-53, 172, 173). There were frequent disagreements during which the Judge appealed to his father to pay him what was fair. (T. 574-75, 587). The Panel recognized that Judge Renke "had no control over the way his father ran the law firm and the less than generous compensation system." (Findings at 32).

During his employment, the Judge received several additional checks associated with the settlement of significant cases, reflecting the firm's compliance with its oral compensation agreement with the Judge. (J. Exh 13, 22). The Judge and his father also agreed that the Judge would receive one hundred percent of the legal fees, after costs were deducted, on cases he originated. (T. 100). Accordingly, the Judge's wife began work at the firm to assist her husband in establishing his own practice. (T. 575). Unfortunately, the time required to

manage his father's cases prohibited him from developing his own client base. (T. 588). On the other hand, his father's unwillingness to delegate control to his son limited the Judge's ability to simply take over his father's cases. (T. 588).

Since the Judge's family was having difficulty making financial ends meet while he worked for his father, the Judge began looking for another job near the end of 1999. (T. 119, 120-21). When the Judge received an offer out of town in 2000, the Judge's father hoped to persuade him to stay. (T. 337, 582, 612). However, as demonstrated by the firm's gross receipts, the firm had very limited cash flow. (J. Exh. 20). Since the firm did not have the financial means to immediately pay the Judge a higher salary, the Judge's father told him that if he stayed, he would pay him the compensation to which he was entitled when the Driftwood litigation settled. (T. 208, 612-12). The additional compensation was for work he performed on the Driftwood case as well as "to make up for the years of low pay" the Judge received. (T. 583, 639, 644-45).

At this time, a portion of the Driftwood litigation had already generated a prevailing party fee award of \$60,000 in 1997 and was continuing to grow due to statutory interest. (T. 110). Accordingly, even if the remaining litigation was unsuccessful, the case would still result in significant fees to the firm. The oral compensation contract entitled the Judge to receive an amount roughly equal to half of the total settlement. (T. 119, 619). The Judge communicated this

agreement to his wife, who began looking for a new home that they would be able to afford with the additional compensation. (T. 583). The Judge diligently pursued a resolution in the Driftwood litigation and in Spring 2001, the parties reached a settlement. (T. 236).

Pursuant to the settlement agreement dated March 23, 2001, the defendants agreed to immediately deliver \$123,553 in attorney's fees to the Renke firm to stop the accrual of statutory interest on the prevailing party fee award, which had already grown from \$60,000 to \$97,000. (T. 110). The \$123,553 was delivered to the Renke law firm in March 2001, with the understanding that the funds would be held intact until final approval of the settlement. (T. 236, 297, 613-14). At the time the funds were delivered, the settlement was uncertain because all of the parties, including the 200 plaintiffs, had to approve the settlement. (T. 236, 627). Over the next year, the settlement became more secure as the requisite consent was granted. (T. 236). When the defendants filed the Preliminary Court Approval of Settlement and Defendant's Motion to Confirm Class Status on May 1, 2002, the Judge's father believed there was little risk that the case would not settle. (T. 129, 237, 281, 334-35, JQC Exh. 104). Although the settlement still required approval by the Home Owner's Association, the Judge's father thought this contingency posed little risk since the association had already voted to approve the settlement at the time the insurance company issued the check for \$123,553 that was delivered

to the firm on May 21, 2001. (T. 238). Once the Driftwood litigation defendants requested the court to approve the settlement on May 1, 2002, the Judge's father determined that the firm would have the cash reserve from the settlement necessary to absorb the payment of additional compensation that he owed to his son pursuant to their agreement. (T. 237, 334-35).

The filing deadline for the judicial election fell mere days after the defendants moved for approval on the Driftwood litigation settlement. Judge Renke learned that a local attorney, Declan Mansfield, was running unopposed for a vacant seat. Judge Renke had volunteered on the South West Florida Water Management District ("SWFWMD") as a hearing officer and excelled in this role. (T. 520). William Bilenky, general counsel to SWFWMD, testified concerning the Judge's promise in this regard by stating, "that his legal abilities . . . were akin, if not superior, to a lot of judges that [Mr. Bilenky] appeared before." Id.

Judge Renke and his wife had not planned on running a judicial campaign and had not pursued any campaign fundraising. Moreover, the Judge's wife had located a new home on which she wanted to make an offer when they had the funds to do so. (T. 583). The Judge and his wife knew that they would have to use their own money to finance the campaign since they were entering the campaign the week of the filing deadline and that they did not have enough money for the campaign and the new home. (T. 585). The Judge's wife encouraged him to

pursue this opportunity and they decided to use the additional compensation for the election. (T. 128-29, 584). Prior to any JQC investigation, Michelle Renke spoke to the press about this early dilemma and their ultimate decision to use the money for the campaign. (J. Exh. 1A).

Instead of the firm paying the Judge his \$101,800 in additional compensation in one lump sum, the Judge's father preferred to dole out the payments as "slowly as he possibly could." (T. 282). The Panel recognized that this pattern of payment was consistent with the father's desire to continue to exert control. (T. 635-36). Accordingly, when the Judge needed to contribute more of his funds to his campaign, he so notified his father who paid him the funds owed to him. (T. 153, 621). John Renke, II, made his first payment to his son on May 11, 2002, approximately one week after the Driftwood defendants filed the motion to approve the settlement. (T. 281). His father did not pay the Judge out of the Driftwood litigation funds that were held separately pending the final approval in 2003. (T. 632-33). Instead, the Judge's father paid his son the promised compensation out of another source of funds, with the understanding that the firm would be able to recoup this expense after the settlement was final. (T. 647). Had the settlement fallen apart, the Judge was not expected to pay his compensation back to the firm. (T. 307-08, 647). The Judge properly reported all of his

contributions to his campaign on the Financial Reports and paid income tax on all of the compensation his father paid to him in 2002. (T. 132-33).

C. Judge Renke's Campaign Materials

Judge Renke's father assisted the Judge in his campaign as his "unofficial" campaign manager. (T. 282). The campaign also hired Mr. Jack Hebert, principal of the Mallard Group, to assist them in creating and sending direct mail pieces. (T. 681). Mr. Hebert had worked in political campaigns since 1979 and had run his own consulting firm for the past eleven years. (T. 677). While at least one Panel member characterized the Judge as "politically untested, politically green" and a "very novice client," Mr. Hebert had been involved in several hundred election campaigns, including ten to eleven judicial campaigns. (T. 741, 677-78). Judge Renke was the first client to receive a complaint based on his campaign mailers in Mr. Hebert's twenty-one years of acting as a political consultant. (T. 735).

Mr. Hebert not only created the layout for the mailers and drafted the content and captions, but also in formulated a campaign theme. For example, Mr. Hebert masterminded the slogan, "John Renke, a judge with our values," which is the subject of Count One. (T. 685). In a separate judicial election, Mr. Hebert created a similar slogan, "Bo Michaels, a judge for the people" for another non-incumbent judicial candidate. (T. 692-93). Mr. Hebert testified that he never intended to infer incumbency. (T. 689). To the contrary, Mr. Hebert believed that

incumbency could be considered detrimental based on the public's positive reaction to term limits. (T. 690). Mr. Hebert intended to convey that John Renke would be a judge with the community's values once he was elected. (T. 701). The full content of the flyer referred to his "general and family practice" at a law firm and his appointments in guardianship and incapacity proceedings. (JQC Exh. 1). Judge Renke testified that he believed the values he shared with the community were "hard work, ethical representation of the citizenry, [and the] ability to do a job" and that he never thought that the slogan would mislead the public into thinking he was an incumbent judge. (T. 50-57).

Mr. Hebert also drafted the caption corresponding to the picture of the Judge sitting underneath the SWFWMD sign with the name plate "chair" in front of him, which is the subject of Count Two. (T. 694). Mr. Hebert knew the Judge had served as a chair of two SWFWMD subcommittees and did not intend to convey that he was chair of SWFWMD. (T. 695). Judge Renke explained the picture was only meant to depict him "on the job," and that the picture accurately portrayed where he sat, along with the location of the nameplate and the SWFWMD sign when he chaired the two subcommittees. (T. 782-83). Judge Renke never contemplated the inference that he was the chair of SWFWMD. (T. 783).

Ms. Lou Kavouras, who was responsible for setting up the SWFWMD boardrooms prior to the hearings confirmed the picture accurately depicted Judge

Renke's position when he chaired the Governing Board Planning Committee meeting. (J. Exh. 10, pp. 14-15). Ms. Kavouras further explained the judge would also be positioned in that seat for Coastal River Basin Board meetings, with a nameplate indicating his title as "chair" and the district logo behind him. (J. Exh. 10, p. 16).

Count Three concerns the picture of the Judge with firefighter supporters. Mr. Hebert drafted the caption, "supported by our areas bravest: John with Kevin Bowler and the Clearwater Firefighters." (T. 696). Mr. Hebert knew the Judge had not received an endorsement and asserted that the caption was not misleading as it accurately depicted the picture accompanying the caption. (T. 697, 706). Judge Renke testified that he never intended to misrepresent he had an endorsement but was only trying to convey the support of the firefighters pictured with him. (T. 783). It was undisputed that Kevin Bowler and the pictured firefighters supported Judge Renke in the campaign. (J. Exh. 11).

Counts Six and Seven pertain to the debate between Judge Renke and his opponent, Declan Mansfield, regarding their respective experience and cited to representations the Judge made in a campaign mailer and a candidate response letter to the newspaper. Declan Mansfield began the debate in a newspaper interview, asserting that Judge Renke had not been a lawyer for a sufficient length

of time to be a judge. (J. Exh. 27). Judge Renke responded that Mr. Mansfield practiced in a "narrow" area of law, as follows:

Renke said that he is not making any value judgments about the type of law Mansfield practices. But if Mansfield is going to make an issue out of experience, Renke said that it is only fair that voters know the truth about his opponent . . . "We need to look at the complete picture. His experience is in criminal law, a very narrow area. My experience is much broader."

(J. Exh. 27).

Similarly, the *St. Petersburg Times* noted in another article that Mr.

Mansfield stated that the race for circuit court judge "boils down to experience . . . and in that category, Mansfield says he has a big advantage over his opponent." (J. Exh. 28). In reply, Judge Renke stated, "I don't disagree that experience is very important. But I think a broad range of experience is just as important." (J. Exh. 28).

In a September 5, 2002 article titled "Candidates Reply to Endorsements" in the *Tampa Tribune*, Judge Renke also commented on the range of his opponent's experience which was limited to mostly criminal law. (J. Exh. 35). In contrast, Judge Renke stated that he had experience in a wide variety of civil law subjects. Judge Renke explained his experience as follows:

I received an academic scholarship at the University of Florida and obtained a juris doctorate with honors from Florida State University. I have almost eight years of experience handling complex civil litigation in many areas such as homeowner/condominium association and property law, Fair Housing Act cases, civil rights discrimination,

personal injury, probate and foreclosures, defamation, contracts, life insurance, business and commercial law.

(J. Exh. 35) (*emphasis added*). Count Six refers to a similar candidate reply to the *St. Petersburg Times* in which the Judge stated as follows:

I obtained a juris doctorate with honors by Florida State University. I have almost eight years of experience handling complex civil <u>trials</u> in many areas involving deed restrictions, property, fair housing act cases, civil rights discrimination, personal injury, probate, foreclosures, defamation, contracts, life insurance, business and commercial law.

(JQC Exh. 3) (emphasis added).

Count Seven pertains to a campaign mailer in which Judge Renke defends his position in the political debate with his opponent by asserting that his broad range of experience makes him a better candidate than Mr. Mansfield. (JQC Exh 4). Specifically, Count Seven references Judge Renke's statement that the public's interests "would be better served by an attorney who has many years of broad civil trial experience." (*emphasis added*). Judge Renke assisted John Renke, II, in several civil trials, including a federal civil jury trial that lasted for one week and a civil jury trial that lasted two days. (T. 785-86). In addition, Judge Renke assisted in four non-jury civil trials in which John Renke, II, was lead counsel and one non-jury civil trial in which Judge Renke was lead counsel. (T. 61-62, 734-92).

In contrast, Judge Renke's opponent had never participated in a civil jury trial, including sitting as "second chair" or "third chair." (T. 420, 422). Moreover, his only non-jury civil trial was a dog-bite case against a *pro se* litigant. (T. 422).

Judge Renke testified that he was attempting to make a qualitative distinction between his experience and Mr. Mansfield's experience. The Judge believed that he had more experience in complex civil litigation and explained that his office used the terms "litigation" and "trial" interchangeably. (T. 64-66). While the Judge acknowledged that "litigation" would have been the better word choice, he denied that he was intentionally trying to overstate his experience. (T. 66). Recognizing the JQC had misinterpreted his statements, the Judge testified as follows, "I would apologize to every individual if I have given any statement that could be interpreted as misleading or if someone thinks I was trying to misrepresent myself. . . I would apologize to every individual in Pasco and Pinellas County if that were possible, yes, sir, I would." (T. 99).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court should examine the Panel's findings to determine whether they are supported by "clear and convincing evidence." <u>In re Pando</u>, 903 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 2005). In addition, the Court must examine whether the recommended sanction is "consistent with governing precedent." <u>Pando</u> at 904.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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