IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Case No. SC03-1846

INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE NO. 02-466 RE: JUDGE JOHN K. RENKE, III

On Review of the Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations by the Hearing Panel of the Judicial Qualifications Commission

JUDICIAL QUALIFICATIONS COMMISSION'S ANSWER BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hearing Panel's factual findings are supported by clear and convincing evidence, an intermediate standard of proof that is more than a preponderance but less than a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Kinsey</u>, 842 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 2003); <u>In re Graziano</u>, 696 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1997). This standard may be satisfied even if the evidence is in conflict. <u>Frazier v. Security Investment Corp.</u>, 615 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). When supported by such evidence, the findings are entitled to great weight and presumptive force. <u>See Kinsey</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Judge Renke attacks the Hearing Panel's factual findings, claiming that there was insufficient evidence to support the Hearing Panel's findings of guilt as to those charges where he was found to have made knowing misrepresentations and the additional charges where he engaged in improper campaign finance activities. All of these counts are supported by the admissions of Judge Renke and strong circumstantial evidence which, under the Code of Judicial Conduct, are appropriately considered. The contention that the Hearing Panel took the language in the campaign brochures out of context or that the misrepresentations were not knowingly made is belied by Judge Renke's own testimony and the text of the brochures in question. And the trial testimony clearly and convincingly supported the Hearing Panel's conclusion that Judge Renke knowingly was involved in evading the campaign finance laws.

Judge Renke also contends that the application of Canon 7 to his campaign conduct violates his First Amendment rights. This contention is without merit. There is no constitutional protection for knowingly false and misleading speech. The applicable portion of Florida's Canon 7 proscribes knowingly or purposefully making subjective misstatements and not objective misstatements as did the flawed Canons of a few other states. This Court's decision of In re Kinsey is adequate precedent for the application of Canon 7 to the campaign statements here in question.

The Hearing Panel saw and heard the witnesses, evaluating their testimony and credibility. Based on substantial, competent evidence, the Hearing Panel found Judge Renke guilty of several serious charges, yet recommended discipline reflecting consideration of mitigating factors. The Hearing Panel's findings thus are fully supported, its recommended discipline is reasonable and both should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE HEARING PANEL PROPERLY FOUND JUDGE RENKE GUILTY OF CHARGE NO. 1 BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY ESTABLISHED THAT HE KNOWINGLY MISREPRESENTED HIS STATUS DURING THE CAMPAIGN.

Charge No. 1 was based on a campaign brochure distributed by the Renke campaign. (See JQC Exhibit 1; T:1:49). A picture on the front of the brochure shows Judge Renke, his wife and two young children. (Id.). In large letters, the caption superimposed beside the picture identifies Judge Renke as "a judge with our values." (Id.). At that time, of course, Judge Renke was not a sitting judge. (Id.). Even Judge Renke acknowledged that an uninitiated reader could conclude that he was an incumbent judge and it could be misleading without the context, although he denied that someone looking at it might assume he was then an incumbent judge. (T:1:48-50).

Jack Hebert of the Mallard Group, the campaign consultant, testified that someone looking at JQC Exhibit 1 could conclude that Judge Renke in fact already was a judge. (T:5:700). Jack Hebert acknowledged that the brochure could have said that Judge Renke would be a "judge with our values" rather than saying he was "a judge." (T:5:740). He also testified that Florida Statute § 106.143(5) expressly prohibits all political ads for non-incumbents from using the word "reelect," and he was familiar with that statute when the "judge with our values" flyer was prepared. (T:5:702-703). The statute carries this prohibition because "reelect" implies incumbency and a candidate cannot falsely represent to the public that he or she is an incumbent. (T:5:703).

Thus, the Hearing Panel properly concluded that Judge Renke was guilty as charged on Charge No. 1. The words "John Renke is a judge with our values" flatly asserted incumbency, which was obviously knowingly false. <u>See</u> Findings and Conclusions, p. 25.

Judge Renke now argues that "a judge with our values is susceptible to different interpretations" and that "the text" of the "entire political circular represented" him "as an attorney and not a sitting judge." (Renke Brief, pp. 37-38). But calling oneself a "judge" in large letters on the front of the brochure is not reasonably "susceptible of different interpretations." (Id. at p. 37). In re Kinsey, 842 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 2003), makes clear that neither the voters nor the

Hearing Panel were obligated to analyze the entire text in determining whether this was a knowing misrepresentation, and indeed, the brochure in its entirety does not absolve Judge Renke of responsibility for such an obvious, knowing misrepresentation.

II. THE HEARING PANEL PROPERLY FOUND JUDGE RENKE GUILTY OF CHARGE NO. 2 BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY ESTABLISHED THAT HE KNOWINGLY MISREPRESENTED THAT HE WAS CHAIRMAN OF THE SOUTHWEST FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT.

In JQC Exhibit 1, Judge Renke appears in a picture sitting at a dias beneath a large Southwest Florida Water Management District ("SWFWMD") banner or sign with a name plate in front of him that reads "John K. Renke, III, Chair" and with an accompanying caption that reads "protecting our interests, John serving on" SWFWMD. (T:1:51-53). It is undisputed that Judge Renke was not and never had been chairman of SWFWMD, and indeed there was and is no such position. (Id.). In truth, Judge Renke had been chairman of a subsidiary Basin Board, as well as a planning subcommittee, not chairman of SWFWMD as the brochure represents. (T:1:52).

Jack Hebert testified that although his candidate actually was chairman of the Basin Board, the ad did not say that and no such caveat appears anywhere therein. (T:5:710). This materially misleading picture, like all of the photographs in the campaign literature, was provided to Jack Hebert by the Renkes. (T:5:711-

712). Jack Hebert also testified that he would have done the SWFMD photo and caption differently today for obvious reasons. (T:5:740-741).

Other than his misplaced reliance on <u>Weaver v. Bonner</u>, 309 F.3d 1312 (11th Cir. 2002), Judge Renke does not meaningfully contest the Hearing Panel's finding of guilt on this charge. (<u>See</u> Renke Brief, pp. 41-42). He points out other mistakes in the same brochure, but does not contend that this picture and caption were a mistake. (<u>Id</u>.). Instead, Judge Renke baldly asserts he "did not intend" to mislead (<u>id</u>. at 43), but all of the evidence is to the contrary.

Judge Renke also argues that the prominently displayed picture shows what the public would have seen if they had observed him "on the job." (Renke Brief, p. 39). Yet this argument is entirely unresponsive to the Hearing Panel's findings. Judge Renke's knowing depiction of himself as Chairman of SWFWMD was an obvious attempt to convey to the public that he was the chair of an important governmental entity. In <u>Kinsey</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court condemned such form and content that misleads and confuses the voters, even if the photograph depicts a true

_

² Although Judge Renke does not expressly blame his father for the various charges, his brief repeatedly suggests that his father was responsible for many of the campaign problems. Of course, Canon 7A(3)(a) expressly requires a candidate to "encourage" family members to adhere to the standards applicable to the candidate. Subsection (b) requires a candidate to discourage those subject to his or her control from conduct prohibited by the Canons. And subsection (c) provides that a candidate for judicial office "shall not authorize or knowingly permit any other person to do for the candidate what the candidate is prohibited from doing under the sections of this Canon."

setting. <u>In re Kinsey</u>, 842 So. 2d at 90. Here, of course, there is no dispute that presenting Judge Renke as the "chair" of SWFWMD was false.

The Hearing Panel thus properly concluded that "Judge Renke is guilty as charged under Count 2" because he "deliberately attempted to convey to the public that he was Chair of this important governmental entity, the Southwest Florida Water Management District." Findings and Conclusions, p. 26.

III. THE HEARING PANEL PROPERLY FOUND JUDGE RENKE GUILTY OF CHARGE NO. 3 BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY ESTABLISHED THAT HE KNOWINGLY MISREPRESENTED THE SUPPORT OF THE CLEARWATER FIREFIGHTERS.

In JQC Exhibit 1, Judge Renke appears in a picture with a small group of firefighters with a caption that reads "supported by our areas' bravest: John and Kevin Bowler and the Clearwater firefighters." (T:1:53). It is undisputed that Judge Renke never sought or received the support of the Clearwater firefighters' union, and no other pre-existing group or organization of Clearwater firefighters ever supported or endorsed him. (T:1:54). Indeed, the only firefighters who supported him were Mr. Bowler and the small group of individuals shown in the picture. (Id.). Yet the campaign flyer falsely asserted that Judge Renke was supported by the "Clearwater firefighters." (JQC Exhibit 1).

Jack Hebert testified that he knew when he prepared the ad that there was a recognized firefighters union in Clearwater, Judge Renke had not received an

endorsement from any group or collective of Clearwater firefighters and only Kevin Bowler and the few individuals in the picture supported Judge Renke. (T:5:705-707). Nevertheless, the campaign ad reads the "Clearwater firefighters" support Judge Renke. (Id.).

Jack Hebert acknowledged that they could have said "some" Clearwater firefighters or "these firefighters" supported Judge Renke, or that Kevin Bowler and the other firefighters shown did so, and that would have been honest. (T:5:707-708). Mr. Hebert also effectively admitted that the Renke campaign could no more represent that it had the support of the "Clearwater firefighters" collectively than an individual candidate could take a picture with a congressman and then represent to the voting public that they were supported by the federal government. (T:5:708-709).

Accordingly, the Hearing Panel found that the campaign brochure attempted to create the impression that Judge Renke had been endorsed by "the Clearwater firefighters," and properly concluded "that this was also an intentional misrepresentation" thus "Judge Renke is guilty as charged on Count 3." Findings and Conclusions, p. 27.

IV. THE HEARING PANEL PROPERLY FOUND JUDGE RENKE GUILTY ON AMENDED FORMAL CHARGE NOS. 6 AND 7 BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY ESTABLISHED THAT HE KNOWINGLY MISREPRESENTED HIS TRIAL EXPERIENCE AS A PRACTICING ATTORNEY.

Judge Renke was admitted to the Florida Bar in 1995. (T:1:46). He practiced as an "independent contractor" in his father's law office until he was elected to the circuit court bench in 2002. (Id.). At final hearing, Judge Renke admitted that the only case he had tried himself in 7 years of practice was a non-jury small claims vertical blinds case in county court. (T:1:61-62). Judge Renke's entire individual trial experience consisted of two extremely brief bench trials, the vertical blinds case and one incapacity proceeding where he put his father on the stand. (Id.). In all other matters, his father was trial counsel and he was just assisting. (T:1:62:82).

Judge Renke never examined a witness in a jury trial, never had been on his feet in a jury trial, and his father always acted as lead counsel addressing the jury, questioning the witnesses and arguing to the court. (T:1:66-67). Judge Renke acknowledged that he was essentially a behind-the-scenes attorney at his father's law office. (T:1:70). His father always was the first chair, his father signed all pleadings, and if Judge Renke was in court, he would be secondary to his father who did the talking. (Id.; T:1:70 and 82).

Judge Renke knew that his opponent, Mr. Mansfield, was older and had practiced far longer. (T:1:72-73). Indeed, he knew that Mr. Mansfield had practiced 20-25 years as of 2002, versus Judge Renke's 7 years of practice with his father's office. (T:1:72). Judge Renke knew that Mr. Mansfield had practiced both personal injury and criminal law for decades. (T:1:75-78). Judge Renke had no criminal experience whatsoever. (T:1:66-67).

Judge Renke's testimony at final hearing stands in stark contrast to the representations he made to the voting public during the 2002 campaign. In the campaign flyer admitted into evidence as JQC Exhibit 4, the gravamen of Charge No. 7, Judge Renke represented that his opponent lacked "the broad experience that best prepares one to serve as a circuit court judge" and informed voters that they "would be better served by an attorney who has many years of broad civil trial experience in the courtroom." (JQC Exhibit 4). This was knowingly false based on Judge Renke's own testimony, as the Hearing Panel properly concluded in finding him guilty as charged on Charge No. 7. See Findings and Conclusions, pp. 29-30.

In his Candidate Reply published in the St. Petersburg Times on September 7, 2002 (JQC Exhibit 3), the gravamen of Charge No. 6, Judge Renke represented that he had "almost eight years of experience handling complex civil trials in many

areas." (T:1:58-59). This was knowingly false given his very limited experience, and in particular his clear lack of any meaningful trial experience.

More damning still is Judge Renke's testimony regarding his appearance before the St. Petersburg Times Editorial Board before his Candidate Reply was published on September 7, 2002. (JQC Exhibit 3). Judge Renke admitted to the Editorial Board that he had not handled any trials as first chair himself, and that his trial experience was in truth very limited. (T:5:806-808). Yet in the Candidate Reply Judge Renke subsequently published in the same newspaper, he made the same false representation that he previously had disclaimed before the Editorial Board, that is, that he had "almost eight years of experience handling complex civil trials in many areas." (JQC Exhibit 3).

Again, beyond attempting to rely on Weaver v. Bonner, supra, to justify this misconduct, Judge Renke only asserts that saying "trial" instead of "litigation experience" was a mistake, and he had "broader" litigation experience then his opponent. (Renke Brief, pp. 45-47). Yet there was and is an obvious material difference between the truth that Judge Renke's experience consisted of preparing cases as a behind-the scenes lawyer at his father's office, and his representation to the voters that he had "almost eight years of experience handling complex civil trials in many areas." (JQC Exhibit 3; T:1: 58-59). The same is true of the

repeated misrepresentation that Judge Renke "had many years of broad trial experience in the courtroom." (JQC Exhibit 4).

V. THE HEARING PANEL PROPERLY FOUND JUDGE RENKE GUILTY ON COUNT 9 BASED ON A PATTERN AND PRACTICE OF MISREPRESENTATION CONSTITUTING CUMULATIVE MISCONDUCT UNBECOMING TO A JUDICIAL CANDIDATE AND THE DIGNITY OF JUDICIAL OFFICE.

The Hearing Panel found Judge Renke guilty of Count 9 based on cumulative misconduct in Counts 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7. Findings and Conclusions, p. 30. As explained in detail above, Judge Renke knowingly, purposefully and repeatedly misrepresented his status, background, support and professional qualifications and experience to obtain the office he now holds. Thus, he engaged in cumulative misconduct constituting a pattern of behavior unbecoming a candidate and entirely lacking the dignity appropriate to judicial office. See, e.g., In re Graham, 620 So. 2d 1273, 1276 (Fla. 1993) (an accumulation of incidents can be considered together to show a pattern of conduct unbecoming a member of the judic iary); In re Kelly, 238 So. 2d 565, 566 (Fla. 1970) (same).

Judge Renke now argues that the Hearing Panel "erred in determining" that his "conduct constituted a cumulative pattern of misconduct," asserting that the misrepresentations resulting in the finding of guilt on Charges 1, 2, 3 and 7 "were made in two brochures out of many campaign representations." (Renke Brief, p. 36). Yet the Renke campaign only distributed three brochures and two were filled

with deliberate misrepresentations. That he did not misrepresent his experience in his candidate reply in the Tampa Tribune as blatantly as in his candidate reply in the St. Petersburg Times hardly establishes that the Hearing Panel "erred" on Count 9.

VI. THE HEARING PANEL PROPERLY FOUND JUDGE RENKE GUILTY OF FINANCING HIS CAMPAIGN WITH ILLEGAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTIONS BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY ESTABLISHED THIS CONDUCT.

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